











UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI SASSARI

CORSO DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA Scienze Agrarie



Curriculum: Produttività delle Piante coltivate

Ciclo XXX

Soil organic carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system

Dr.ssa Maria Teresa Tiloca

Coordinatore del Corso Referente di Curriculum Docente Guida Prof. Antonello Cannas Prof.ssa Giovanna Attene Dott. Luigi Ledda











Fondazione di Sardegna



UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI SASSARI

CORSO DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA Scienze Agrarie



Curriculum: Produttività delle Piante coltivate

Ciclo XXX

Soil organic carbon dynamics AND LAND USE CHANGE ASSESSMENT IN A NO-FOOD MEDITERRANEAN CROPPING SYSTEM

Dr.ssa Maria Teresa Tiloca

Coordinatore del Corso Referente di Curriculum Docente Guida

Prof. Antonello Cannas Prof.ssa Giovanna Attene Dott. Luigi Ledda



Università degli Studi di Sassari Corso di Dottorato di ricerca in Scienze Agrarie

La presente tesi è stata prodotta durante la frequenza del corso di dottorato in Scienze Agrarie dell'Università degli Studi di Sassari, a.a. 2015/2017 - XXX ciclo, con il sostegno di una borsa di studio cofinanziata con le risorse del P.O.R. SARDEGNA F.S.E. 2007-2013 - Obiettivo competitività regionale e occupazione, Asse IV Capitale umano, Linea di Attività 1.3.1 "Finanziamento di corsi di dottorato finalizzati alla formazione di capitale umano altamente specializzato, in particolare per i settori dell'ICT, delle nanotecnologie e delle biotecnologie, dell'energia e dello sviluppo sostenibile, dell'agroalimentare e dei materiali tradizionali".

La tesi è stata prodotta, altresì, grazie al contributo della Fondazione di Sardegna.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: USING COVER CROPS AS AN ALTERNATIVE MANAGEMENT OF AGRO-ENERGETIC CROPPING SYSTEMS TO MITIGATE CO₂ EMISSIONS.

1. Introduction	1
2. Materials and Methods	2
2.1 Site description	2
2.2 Experimental design and treatments details	3
2.3 Crop management	4
2.4 Soil organic carbon stock and soil respiration dynamics	5
2.5 Statistical analysis	5
3. Results and discussion	6
3.1 Soil properties	6
3.2 Soil respiration	11
4. Conclusions	18
References	19

CHAPTER 2: LONG TERM EFFECTS ASSESSMENT ON SOIL ORGANIC CARBON DYNAMIC AND LAND USE CHANGE FOLLOWING ARABLE LAND CONVERSION TO ENERGY CROPPING SYSTEM IN MEDITERRANEAN ENVIRONMENT

1. Introduction	27
2. Materials and Methods	29
2.1 Site characterization and experimental designs	29
2.2 Soil sampling and carbon stocks evaluate	33
2.3 Soil respiration measurement	33
2.4 Statistical analysis	34

3. Results and discussion	35
3.1 Biannual cropping system conversion to perennial cropping system	35
3.2 Soil properties in second crop cycle of cardoon	37
3.3 Soil respiration pattern in perennial and biannual cropping systems	39
4. Conclusions	47
References	49

CHAPTER 1: USING COVER CROPS AS AN ALTERNATIVE MANAGEMENT OF AGRO-ENERGETIC CROPPING SYSTEMS TO MITIGATE CO₂ EMISSIONS

1. Introduction

Development of mitigation strategies for tackling global climate change is an important issue influencing management of ecosystems around the world (Lal 2011). Among these strategies soil carbon sequestration can play a relevant role in order to enhance carbon stores in the biosphere (Anthony et al. 2011; Nair et al. 2009) especially in agroecosystems (Lal 2011). Increasing the Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) content has considerable benefits, since it improves physical, chemical and biological soil properties (Lal 2011). Consequently SOC is crucial for sustaining and enhancing crop productivity (Aguileira et al. 2013) and thus for achieving food security (Lal 2016). Specifically in the Mediterranean region characterized by a semi-arid climate conditions (Albadalejo et al. 2013; Muñoz-Rojas et al. 2012) in which SOC decomposition rates increase associated to temperatures rise (Al-Adamat et al. 2007). Furthermore in this context the organic matter inputs are low and mostly rely on crop residues whereas the substantial C losses are due to intensive and no-conservative agricultural practices (Farina et al. 2011). As a consequence of their low SOC contents, these areas are often degraded and vulnerable to environmental variations and climate change is predicted to have a large impact on an additional SOC reduction (Metz et al., 2007).

Different authors have highlighted the potential role of perennial bioenergy crops (e.g. cardoon, mischantus, arundo donax, etc.) in terms of contributing to reduce CO₂ emissions and to foster SOC storage. For instance, Chimento et al. (2014) underlined that the continuous C inputs to the soil and minimal soil disturbance of energy crops systems increased SOC stock following 6 years of cultivation. Furthermore Sartori et al. (2006) pointed out positive effects of perennial crops to reduce climate-altering impacts of anthropogenic CO₂ emissions. Cardoon (*Cynara cardunculus* L. var. *altilis* DC.) is considered by various authors an important species for energy purpose that is able to provide good biomass production level and it shows drought tolerance particularly in semi-arid environments (Christodoulou et al. 2014; Fernández et al. 2006; Vasilakoglou and Dhima, 2014). In addition cardoon is generally cultivated in rainfed conditions adopting an agricultural management based on external inputs use such as different doses of N fertilizers (Deligios et al. 2017; Francaviglia et al. 2016).

However further research is warranted to verify if alternative agricultural managements of energy systems - such as the adoption of biochar, cover crops and biochar plus cover crops used in intercropping systems - might lead a SOC reduction and, as a consequence, mitigate climate

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

change. Austin et al. (2017), Blanco–Canqui et al. (2011), and Fronning et al. (2008) put on evidence the positive effect on C content due to cover crops and biochar adopted in annual cropping systems.

Biochar use can foster the C sequestration enhancement in favors of crop productivity (Lal 2016) because of its highly recalcitrant nature (Woolf et al. 2010).

Cover crops – especially legumes – might have considerable positive effects with respect to: 1) mitigation of greenhouse gases emissions (e.g. CO_2) in comparison to cropping systems characterized by mineral N fertilization; 2) C soil sequestration and 3) low fossil energy inputs requirement for crops cultivation. (Stagnari et al 2017). Specifically cover crops might supply additional residual biomass that in turn might foster soil N and C storage. On the basis of these considerations this research is aimed to assess – with respect to perennial energy cropping system - the soil organic carbon dynamics applying different agricultural managements (i.e. low and high nitrogen fertilizer doses, biochar use and cover crop cultivation both separately and concurrently). The specific objective was to analyze the performance of each agricultural management for cardoon cultivation in order to put on evidence their strengths and weakness with respect to SOC storage and CO_2 emissions from climate change mitigation point of view.

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Site description

The experimental trial was carried out from 2014-15 to 2016-17 growing season at the "Mauro Deidda" experimental station of the University of Sassari, in Ottava (North-West Sardinia, Italy: 41° N; 8° E; 81 m a.s.l.). Prior to the experimental period, the study site was continuously cropped with cardoon (*Cynara cardunculus* var. *altilis* DC. cv. "Bianco Avorio") under mineral fertiliser treatments for 8 years (Deligios et al. 2017; Ledda et al. 2013).

The daily minimum and maximum temperatures and the rainfall during the study period were collected by means of a meteorological station located *in situ*. The climate of the area is Mediterranean warm temperate with dry and hot summers (Kottek et al. 2006). The long-term mean annual rainfall is 550 mm, unevenly distributed in the winter-spring season. The long-term average annual air temperature is 16.2 °C.

Soil chemical and physical analyses were carried at the beginning of the experiment to assess soil initial conditions. The soil of the experimental field was classified as Typic Haploxerepts, sandyclay loam with 66% sand, 15% silt, and 19% clay (Soil Taxonomy, 2014). The soil surface layer (0–40 cm depth) had an average pH of 8.4 (soil:water=1:2.5), total C content of 49 g kg⁻¹ and total N of 1,8 g kg⁻¹ (elemental analyzer, Leco CHN628 Series, LECO Corporation, St Joseph, MI,

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

USA), soil organic matter (SOM) of 31 g kg⁻¹ (SOM = total organic C \times 1.72; Francaviglia et al. 2017), Olsen P of 20 ppm (bicarbonate-extractable; Kuo 1996), exchangeable K of 151 ppm (BaCl₂ extraction followed by AAS determination), and total carbonate of 25.9% (volumetric calcimeter method; Loeppert and Suarez 1996).

2.2 Experimental design and treatments details

The trial was established in November 2014 to evaluate the impact of non-conventional energy cropping systems on soil fertility preservation and on crop yield and it is still ongoing. Treatments were arranged in a split-plot scheme with four replicates. Management treatment was assigned to the main plot and genotype to the sub-plot. Experimental field measured 4156 m², and main plot and subplot areas were 132 m² (22 m × 6 m) and 45 m² (7.5 m × 6 m), respectively. All subplots were separated by inter-plot spacing of 1.5 m.

There were five management treatments: i) high rate of N fertilizer application (HI); ii) low rate of N fertilizer application (LW); iii) low rate of N fertilizer application plus cover-crop use (LW-C); iv) low rate of N fertilizer application plus biochar distribution (LW-B); and v) low rate of N fertilizer application plus both cover crop and biochar use (LW-CB).

The first two managements (HI and LW) were considered conventional, whereas the three managements with cover crop and/or biochar use (LW-B, LW-C, LW-BC) were considered as alternative managements.

At the beginning of the experiment, urea (80 kg N ha⁻¹) and ammonium phosphate (100 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹) were supplied on the entire experimental field. In addition, ammonium phosphate (65 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹)

¹) was top-dressed each year to all plots at sprouting (BBCH code 07) to avoid P soil depletion.

The HI treatment plots were managed by top-dressing 100 kg ha⁻¹ of mineral N (urea) at stem elongation (BBCH code 51, Archontoulis et al. 2010).

In all treatments with a low rate of N mineral fertilizer application (LW; LW-C; LW-B, and LW-CB), 50 kg N ha⁻¹ of urea was supplied at stem elongation stage.

LW-C; LW-B, and LW-CB were differentiated when the plants reached the 3 to 4 leaf stage (BBCH code 13-14).

In LW-C plots, a self-reseeding legume cover crop (*Trifolium subterraneum* L. var. Antas) was introduced in inter-row spaces (Figure 1). In November 2014, subterranean clover was manually sown at a rate of 30 kg ha⁻¹ and at 5 cm depth and it was left to reestablish year after year. Cover crop residues were not removed or incorporated into the soil, since the aim was to promote the establishment of a stable litter by providing additional biomass to maintain and sequester SOC.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

In the same period, in LW-B treatment, biochar was spread manually on the soil surface at a rate of 10 t ha⁻¹, and it was incorporated into soil to a depth of 10 cm using a rotary hoe (Figure 2). Biochar was produced from rape straw and by a slow pyrolysis procedure at 600 °C (Desogus et al. 2016). No further biochar application was performed throughout the experiment.

LW-CB treatment combined cover crop over-sowing and biochar application. The choice of biochar dose applied in the LW-B and LW-CB plots was decided taking into consideration the findings of Mia et al. (2014).

The Bianco Avorio (BA), Gobbo di Lucca (GL) and Gigante di Romagna (GR) genotypes were selected and used for the field experiment according to results obtained from previous trial that was conducted to characterize and analyze cardoon growth and yield potential in Mediterranean environment (Spissu 2015).



Figure 1: LW-C management



Figure 2: LW-B management

2.3. Crop management

Seedbed preparation consisted in moldboard plowing at a depth of 35 cm followed by two passes of disk harrowing.

Cardoon was manually sown in mid-autumn (November 13, 2014), adopting a plant density of 1.5 plant m^{-2} (1 m × 0.67 m).

No synthetic pesticide application was performed, except during the year of establishment when a weed control was provided (450 g a.i. ha⁻¹ Linuron, Sipcam S.p.A., Lodi, Italy).

Every year, total cardoon aboveground biomass was cut off a few centimeters above the soil surface in summer at achenes ripening stage (BBCH code 89, \sim 70-80% DM). The biomass was baled and removed completely from the soil.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

2.4 Soil organic carbon stock and soil respiration dynamics

Soil sampling was yearly conducted on each sub-plot in November. Soil cores were collected at the depth of 0-20 and 20-40 cm, each sample was dried at 40° C per 72 h, and crushed and sieved at 0.2 mm mesh-size before analysis. The Wang and Dalal methodology (2006) was used in order to determine SOC stocks (Mg ha⁻¹) for both depths. It is based on the following equation:

SOC stock = SOC content \times Bd \times D

SOC content (g kg⁻¹) was determined by dry combustion method with an elemental analyzer (Leco CHN628 Series, LECO Corporation, St Joseph, MI, USA). Bulk density (Bd, g cm⁻³) was estimated by pedotransfer function (Tsuji et al. 1998), D is soil depth (m). Soil respiration monitoring was conducted at weekly interval, during 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons, on each plot (from 9:00 to 13:00 am hours). An infrared gas analyser (EGM-4, PP Systems Hitchin, Hertfordshire, UK) connected to a closed dynamic chamber (SRC, PP Systems Hitchin, Hertfordshire, UK) was used to measure soil CO₂ efflux (g CO₂ m⁻² hour⁻¹) from 30 permanent collars inserted into the soil. In order to monitor only heterotrophic soil respiration, external PVC cylinders (40 cm diameter and depth) according to Alberti et al. (2010), were positioned. At the same time, the soil temperature (°C) and the soil volumetric water content (VWC), close to the collars, were measured by using the "STP-1 Soil Temperature Probe" connected to the EGM-4 instrument, and the "TDR FieldScout 300" (Spectrum Technologies, Inc., Plainfield, IL, USA), respectively.

2.5 Statistical analysis

The normality of the data was confirmed by the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and the homogeneity of variances by the Levene's test. Soil properties data (organic C, SOC stock, total N and C:N ratio) were subjected to analysis of variance using the MIXED model (SAS v 9.2, 1999). According to the split-plot design, blocks and interaction with blocks were considered as random factors; while the five soil management treatments (factor 1), the three genotypes (factor 2), and the two depths (factor 3) were considered as fixed factors. Means were compared using the SAS least square means with Tukey adjustment at $P \le 0.05$ to test comparisons across means. The repeated nature of the CO₂ flux, soil temperature and moisture data, with recordings made over time in the same plots, was accounted by including data of measurements as a repeated effect. An autoregressive correlation structure and variance was assumed between data of sampling. Significance was determined using the *F* statistic and α =0.05. The denominator degrees of freedom in F-test for mean separation were calculated according to Kenward and Roger (1997). All data, when necessary, were log-transformed to obtain homogeneity of variance.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Soil properties

The SOC content was significantly affected by depth (Table 1) and by two second-order (growing season × genotype and management × genotype) interactions (Tables 2 and 3). The highest SOC content was observed in the surface layer (0-20 cm). Throughout the three growing seasons (from 2014-2015 to 2016-2017) the SOC content showed a reduction with significant differences within BA and GR genotypes (Table 2). Specifically, considering each growing season the decline in soil SOC was in order BA > GL > GR with 39%, 38% and 35% respectively (Table 2). Bianco Avorio genotype (Table 3) showed statistically higher SOC values than other genotypes in LW-C and LW-CB (both 19 g kg⁻¹). Management with the use of cover crop and biochar alone (LW-C and LW-B) or combined with each other (LW-CB) significantly affected SOC content in BA, the same trend was also observed within GR and GL but with a smaller, even if statistically significant, range of variation among managements (Table 3).

SOC stock showed a similar trend within genotypes and among managements (two-way management × genotype interaction; table 3) with LW that showed the lowest SOC stock (Table 3). Because growing season × depth interaction was significant, variations in SOC stock at 0-20 and 20-40 cm depths with growing season were examined (Table 1). The SOC stock decreased throughout the three different growing seasons in both depths (Table 4) ranging from 56.2 Mg ha⁻¹ to 39.6 Mg ha⁻¹ (0-20 cm) and from 106.2 Mg ha⁻¹ to 71.1 Mg ha⁻¹ (20-40 cm). The C stock was always lower in the surface layer (0-20 cm) and the increase, in 20-40 cm layer, was equal to +90% and +80% in the first and third growing season, respectively (Table 4).

Soil organic carbon variations, which can be positive or negative, may depend on several factors, such as previous land use, crop management, soil type, and species (Garten and Wullschleger 2000; Brandão and Milà i Canals 2013).

Our findings confirm that a number of factors were involved in affecting SOC content, such as growing seasons, crop management, soil depth, genotypes and their interactions.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

Factors		Organic C (g kg ⁻¹)	SOC stock (Mg ha ⁻¹)	Total N (g kg ⁻¹)	C:N ratio
Growing season					
2014-2015		21 a	81.7 a	1.8 a	11.3
2015-2016		15 a	63.3 b	1.3 b	11.8
2016-2017		13 b	55.4 c	1.3 b	10.2
Management					
LW		15	60.6 c	1.5	10.4 c
HI		16	64.8 b	1.5	10.9 b
LW-B		13	67.6 a	1.5	11.0 a
LW-C		17	67.7 a	1.4	11.0 a
LW-CB		18	73.2 a	1.5	12.1 a
Depth					
0-20		17 a	47.8 b	1.5 a	11.1
20-40		15 b	58.8 a	1.4 b	11.1
Genotype					
BA		17 a	69.2 a	1.5 a	11.1
GL		16 b	65.4 b	1.5 a	10.9
GR		15 c	65.2 c	1.4 b	11.3
Analysis of variance	Df	P>F	P>F	P>F	P>F
Growing season	2	*	*	**	N.S.
Management	4	N.S.	*	N.S.	*
Depth	1	***	***	***	N.S.
Genotype	2	**	*	*	N.S.
Growing season \times depth	2	N.S.	***	**	N.S.
Growing season × genotype	4	**	N.S	N.S.	*
Management × genotype	8	**	**	NS	NS

Table 1. Mixed model analysis of variance associated with the growing seasons, management and depth studied and for three genotype analyzed.

LW: low rate of N fertilizer, HI: high rate of N fertilizer, LW-B: low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar, LW-C: low rate of N fertilizer plus cover crop, LW-CB low rate of fertilizer plus cover crop and biochar.

BA: Bianco Avorio, GL: Gobbo di Lucca, GR: Gigante di Romagna genotypes.

Component of variation: *, **, *** significant according to Tukey's test at P levels of $P \le 0.05$, 0.01, 0.001, respectively; N.S. not significant.

For each parameter (growing season, management, depth and genotype), within each column, means followed by different letters are significantly different according to Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$).

Table 2. Mixed model	analysis of variar	ce associated with the growing	season \times genotype interaction.

Factors	Organic C (g l	kg ⁻¹)		C:N ratio			
Factors	BA	GL	GR	BA	GL	GR	
2014-2015	23 a	21	20 a	11.74	11.12	10.94	
2015-2016	16 b	15	16 ab	11.40 B	11.65 AB	12.48 A	
2016-2017	14 b	13	13 b	10.05	9.85	10.61	

BA: Bianco Avorio, GL: Gobbo di Lucca, GR: Gigante di Romagna genotypes.

Different letters indicate significant differences according to Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$) among genotypes (upper case, within row) and growing seasons (lower case, within column).

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

Factors	Organic C (g kg ⁻¹)			SOC stock (Mg ha ⁻¹)			
	BA	GL	GR	BA	GL	GR	
HI	16 b	16 a	17 a	62.7 b	63.5 ab	68.2 a	
LW	16 b	15 ab	14 ab	62.7 b	60.7 b	58.4 b	
LW-B	17 ab	17 a	16 a	67.7 b	69.5 a	65.4 ab	
LW-C	19 aA	16 aBC	16 aB	75.2 abA	62.4 aB	64.6 abB	
LW-CB	19 aA	18 aAB	17 aB	79.5 aA	70.5 aB	69.3 aB	

Table 3. Mixed model analysis of variance associated with the management \times genotype interaction.

LW: low rate of N fertilizer, HI: high rate of N fertilizer, LW-B: low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar, LW-C: low rate of N fertilizer plus cover crop, LW-CB low rate of fertilizer plus cover crop and biochar.

Different letters indicate significant differences according to Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$) among genotypes (upper case, within row) and managements (lower case, within column).

Table 4. Mixed model analysis of variance associated with the growing season × depth interaction.

Fastors	SOC stock (Mg ha ⁻¹))	Total N (g kg ⁻¹)		
racions	а	b	а	b	
2014-2015	56.2 B	106.2 aA	1.81 aA	1.69 aB	
2015-2016	47.5 B	79.0 bA	1.43 bA	1.15 bcB	
2016-2017	39.6 B	71.1 bcA	1.36 bA	1.26 bB	

a: 0-20 cm depth; b: 20-40 cm depth.

Different letters indicate significant differences according to Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$) between depths (upper case, within row) and among growing seasons (lower case, within column).

In 2014, before starting the experiment, biomass residues from previous 8-year cardoon long-term trial (Ledda et al. 2013; Deligios et al. 2017) were incorporated into the soil. Analyzing our results, it rises that in the year of crop establishment (2014-2015) SOC resulted higher than other growing seasons, and this outcome was likely due to soil residues incorporation of the previous cardoon crop. This hypothesis is also supported by Lehtinen et al. (2014) that after reviewing the effects of crop residues incorporation on SOC across Europe, indicated an overall positive impact of crop residues incorporation on SOC. However, the change in SOC (decrease) during the three-year period, although significant for two genotypes, were somewhat negligible and this result is consistent with studies demonstrating that changes in SOC in a few-year period may be small or insignificant, taking a 7-year period or longer for differences to be appreciable (Bonin and Lal 2014).

The management of the short-term experiment described in this paper was characterized by no crop residues (both cardoon and cover crop) and weeds incorporation; consequently, partially decomposed litter was available in the surface layer. This might explain the SOC concentration increase in the surface layer and the slight decline in the lower layers as also found by Ferchaud et al. (2016) after a 5-year study on perennial grasses. Indeed as stated by Conant et al. (2001) and

Fonte et al. (2012) the aboveground plant litter, more easily decomposable than root material, has positive effects in stimulating the soil fauna, which plays a major role in the translocation and/or decomposition of fresh detritus, and therefore it accelerating the C sequestration mechanisms in the first soil cm depth. By contrast, the high below-ground biomass growth of cardoon (Francaviglia et al. 2016; Nocentini and Monti 2017) provided a continuous C input associated to the minimal soil disturbance that increased SOC stock in the deeper soil layer if compared to the surface soil layer (0-20 cm). In addition, the increased of SOC stock at 20-40 cm, can be explained by soil bulk density rise across treatments and years, equaled to 1.32, and 1.55 g cm⁻³ (data not shown) at 0-20, and 20-40 cm, respectively. The higher SOC and SOC stocks at the LW-CB and LW-C managements are likely a result of the use of cover crop alone and combined with biochar, and BA genotype also have had some slight and additive effect. Both biochar and cover crop use are considered as management strategies able to counteract the adverse effect of residues removal on SOC (Blanco-Canqui 2013). The inclusion of a cover crop in a perennial bioenergy system provides additional biomass, mitigating the negative effects of residue removal by adding to soil stable C pools (McDaniel et al. 2014; Kallenbach et al. 2015; Tiemann et al. 2015). Additionally, some authors highlighted the key roles of cover crop rhizodeposition as a source of soil C (Austin et al. 2017), and particularly of legumes species below-ground biomass in increasing soil organic matter and C pool (Crème et al. 2017). Our findings were consistent with Sainju et al. (2003) that reported that crimson clover cover crop treatments can sequester SOC at a higher rate compared with no cover crop ones. Besides additional biomass residues, legume cover crops such as subterranean clover also supply N to the soil by fixing N from the atmosphere, which might have increased the above and belowground cardoon biomass yields, thereby increasing SOC, as also indicated by Gauder et al. (2016) and Sainju et al. (2002) on other species, compared with no cover crop managements. Although biochar is known to affect the soil nutrient balance (Ding et al. 2016), in our study its effect was not equivalent to that of cover crop, as cover crop alone was more effective for storing soil C. Despite the absolute beneficial effects of this compound on soil carbon sequestration and soil fertility, there was evidence of a likely synergistic effect when biochar, cover crop, and fertilizer were applied (LW-CB management). Indeed, root nodulation by rhizobia is generally increased by biochar, presumably because conditions associated with efficient N-fixation, such as access to P, are improved (Biederman and Harpole 2013), and because its an excellent substrate for rhizobia, immobilizing inorganic C in biochar structure particles (Mia et al. 2014). No significant differences in SOC and stock between conventional (LW and HI managements) and alternative managements were found. Therefore, our finds indicate that N mineral fertilization rates in perennial energy cropping systems of cardoon can be limited to 50 kg N ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ thus reducing the cost of N fertilization without altering soil C storage. These results suggest that the adoption of a legume cover crop and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ may be an effective management strategy to promote soil C storage under cardoon. In accordance with Richter et al. (2015) and Mishra et al. (2010) genotype was found to exhibit a statistically significant influence on SOC and SOC stock. The increased C stock in BA and GR compared with GL was probably related to above- and belowground biomass yields. Although belowground biomass was not examined in this study, but total biomass partitioning in cardoon is stable enough (roots contributing 30% of the total biomass; Raccuia and Melilli 2010) to allow affirming that the abundance and depth of the roots of BA and GR are higher than GL and can provide a source of organic material for enhancing the SOC stock as also found by other authors on different perennial energy crops. Angelini et al. (2009) and Spissu (2015) supported our hypothesis by reporting that aboveground biomass of BA and GR genotypes was higher than GR and with no significant differences between the formers.

Total N concentration was significantly lower in the GR genotype (Table 1). The 0-20 cm depth showed significantly higher nitrogen level in comparison to 20-40 cm within each growing season. This last result was likely due to mineral N fertilizer use which fosters the N availability in the soil. However, over the years, a declining trend has been observed for both depths with the highest and statistically different values in the first year compared to other two years (Table 4). Here, we hypothesized that since the amount of N applied as mineral fertilizer was scheduled to meet cardoon demand, the microbial growth, which requires N to build proteins, occurred by depleting soil N pool in the short-term. Indeed, N from organic material source was not readily available due to the fact that root decomposition process and organic N release occur slowly and over a long period of time.

The lowest C and N content observed in LW and HI entailed a decrease of C:N ratio with statistical differences compared to the other three alternative managements (LW-B, LW-C, LW-CB). The lowest C:N ratio detected in LW and HI treatments might be due to higher nitrogen availability for microbial community that can speed up SOC mineralization process (Sinsabaugh et al. 2002). By contrast, the high C:N ratio maintenance in managements with both biochar and cover crop use - also useful for the energy cropping system resilience - might be due to the presence of substantially stabile C resulting from both biochar incorporation and greater below-ground biomass production providing SOM. The C:N ratio, within each growing season and among genotypes, was rather stable and significant differences among genotypes were detected only in the second growing season (growing season × genotype interaction, Tables 1 and 2).

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

3.2 Soil respiration

Soil respiration (SR) rates were monitored for two growing seasons (2015-2016 and 2016-2017) starting from sprouting to senescence stage (Figures 3-7).

A rise of CO₂ efflux was observed for each genotypes and in all managements in both growing seasons specifically in October after fertilisation. The increase of nutrient content associated with favorable temperature (15 °C) promoted microbial activity speeding up the SOM decomposition and the CO₂ release to the atmosphere. This finding is consistent with previous studies that reported higher soil respiration, after nitrogen fertilization, from the cropland ecosystems, showing also a high correlation between nutrient addition and soil temperature (Zhou et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2017). CO₂ emissions from soil showed a reduction only throughout the wet season. The decrease of SR rate was probably both due to low winter temperature that caused a reduction of SOM mineralization process, and to high soil water content that limited oxygen availability, as indicated by Kiese and Butterbach-Bahl (2002) and Ding et al. (2007).

SR peaked at early spring when soil water availability decreased and soil temperature increased fostering soil metabolic rate. SR trend showed similar in summer and winter of both growing seasons. Specifically SR showed a steady decrease with a minimum value in summer and then it gradually increased in autumn at the beginning of rainfall events. The seasonal pattern of SR linked to the variation of soil temperature was already highlighted by other studies demonstrating that SR shows twofold values for every 10 °C soil temperatures increase up to a maximum of 35 to 40 °C, beyond which soil temperature is too high, limiting plant growth, microbial activity and SR (Davidson and Janssens 2006; Lellei-Kovács et al. 2011; Laudicina et al. 2014).

Basically the first observed growing season showed higher SR values than the second one for all managements and genotype under consideration. This result might depend on residual effects of tillage practices for seedbed preparation in the first growing season which might have fostered soil aeration and, as a consequence a SR increase. On the other hand, throughout the 2016-2017 growing season the SR rate showed the same trend but more low compared to the previous season always following the thermo-pluviometric variations.

The SR rate showed a variation in each adopted management throughout the considered growing seasons. Specifically the SR followed the seasonal variation in terms of soil temperature and moisture in LW management (Figure 3).

SR followed a clear seasonal pattern even in the case of HI management, namely it showed the highest CO_2 emissions in March-April and the lowest value in winter and summer (Figure 4). This

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

outcome confirms the relevance of soil temperature and moisture with respect to CO_2 flux. The highest CO_2 flux occurred immediately after fertilization in both the considered growing seasons peaking in the first growing season. The measured average CO_2 fluxes were 0.19, 0.52 and 0.25 g $CO_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ in winter, spring and summer, in LW management. Very similar values to the latter occurred in HI management (0.19, 0.45 and 0.26 g $CO_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ in winter, spring and summer, respectively). In both monitored growing seasons SR in conventional managements (LW and HI) was higher than in the alternative ones. The N fertilization effects on SR remain controversial. Some studies underlined that the increase of N availability for microbial biomass might foster bacteria growth and consequently producing a SR raise (Contosta et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2014). By contrast, Cardon et al. (2001) and Giardina et al. (2004) showed that N fertilization resulted in a SR rates reduction. In our study SR increased in LW, although the low SOC content did not supply an organic substrate suitable to promote an adequate microbial activity (Bae et al. 2013; Yu et al. 2014), while it decreased in HI management. Similar outcomes were reported by Bae et al. (2013) although with respect to agro-forestry systems.

In LW-B management CO₂ fluxes rates showed a seasonal pattern (Figure 5). Specifically for each growing seasons, the lowest efflux was observed in winter and summer and the highest one in early spring. The SR rates achieved approximatively 0.24, 0.39 and 0.34 g CO₂ m⁻¹ h⁻¹ in winter, spring and summer, respectively. LW-C management showed the lowest SR effluxes in both monitored growing seasons. The CO₂ emission rates from soil showed a seasonal trend, the highest value was achieved in March-April (0.41 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹) and the lowest in winter and summer (0.20 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹ and 0.23 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively) (Figure 6). LW-CB management showed higher SR fluxes than the other managements in both growing seasons and throughout the year (Figure 7). Specifically the SR values were high at the beginning of the monitoring activity, then it showed a steady reduction achieving the minimum value (0.27 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹) in November and December, namely corresponding to low temperatures. The higher rates were detected in early spring (0.48 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹ on average). From the end of May SR gradually declined up to 0.33 g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹ achieved in August.

Our results evidenced that the seasonal dynamic of SR was affected by growing seasons and managements. In detail, as indicated by Yuste et al. (2007), SR was influenced by soil temperature specifically during autumn, winter and spring, and soil moisture content in summer.

The temporal trends of SR were similar during the two growing seasons.

The SR increase in LW-B might results from the mineralization of the labile C fraction that was able to provide a suitable substrate for microbial activity (Deng et al. 2017). Indeed as underlined by Ventura et al. (2014), the microbial enzymatic activity also showed an increase after the addition

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

of biochar. This might be able to provide easily exploitable resources for microbial community and strengthening consequently their action.

The LW-C management was the most conservative in terms of CO₂ emissions in both growing seasons under consideration. Temperatures and moisture value partially affected the SR process also in this case. The presence of the cover crop increase SOC content and consequently its stock. However it has also been suggested that belowground inputs (both from main and cover crop) decompose slowly due to the chemically complex components of root biomass (e.g. lipids or waxes such as suberin; Rasse et al. 2005; Mendez-Millan et al. 2010). This condition might cause a lower microbial community development per soil square meter and, as a consequence a SR reduction; indeed, as stated by some authors (Fierer et al. 2009; Kallenbach and Grandy 2011), the quantity and quality of SOM and carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) inputs are the overriding controls on soil microbial biomass and activity. In addition, the N derived from N fixation process was likely less available to soil microbial activity, and was presumably used to meet cover crop and cardoon nutritional demand as found in other studies (Pérez-Álvarez et al. 2015). Moreover, Cellete et al. (2009) reported that a lower soil N availability might be due to a lower soil moisture under cover crops, which would lead to a decline in N mineralization rates.

Our results could suggest that in the LW-C management the SR reduction might be due to the lack of suitable substrate available for microbial activity. This last hypothesis is consistent with results by Graham et al. (2002) that showed a microbial growth reduction when the soil nutritional conditions are inadequate, and an increase of microbial activity after N source replenishment.

In the LW-BC, SR observations are also confirmed by the high SOC content and C stock. Indeed, LW-CB provides considerable C for microbial community activity, but despite a significant C storage in the soil, a relevant amount is lost as CO₂ emissions.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 3: Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration rates \pm SE in two growing seasons for the LW (low rate of N fertilization) management.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum* "*Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX



Figure 4: Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration rates ± SE in two growing seasons for the HI (high rate of N fertilizer) management.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum* "*Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX



Figure 5: Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration rates ± SE in two growing seasons for the LW-B (low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar) management.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum* "*Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX



Figure 6: Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration rates ± SE in two growing seasons for the LW-C (low rate of N fertilizer plus cover crop) management.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX



Figure 7: Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration rates \pm SE in two growing seasons for the LW-CB (low rate of fertilizer plus cover crop and biochar) management.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate"* – Ciclo XXX

4. Conclusions

The understanding of soil carbon dynamics in perennial systems for bioenergy production is crucial since it might influence soil fertility and agro-ecosystem sustainability. The SOC dynamics assessment requires long term measurements since the annual changes are rather small. The research activity addressed the cardoon cultivation monitoring throughout three years after a previous multi-year (8 years) experimental trial based on continuous cardoon crop. The analysis highlighted that benefits in terms of soil C stock, following the previous perennial energy crop, were partly lost as consequence of the establishment of the experimental trial reported in the current paper. Among the three considered cardoon genotypes BA showed the most relevant SOC content. At the same time, within BA genotype, soil heterotrophic respiration showed the lowest rates. Thereby this research basically underlined that a preliminary choice of genotype for energy purpose might be done both in terms of potential productivity and SOC storage capacity. The choice of management might play a key role in order to limit over time SOC decrease and as a consequence the CO₂ losses. The best performance was showed by LW-B and LW-C managements. Furthermore the biochar incorporation within the soil provided an important stable C resource that might foster C sequestration in the long term and thus contributing to climate change mitigation strategies. The inclusion of a N-fixing cover crop (i.e. subterranean clover) in perennial energy cropping systems also might be a successful strategy in terms of soil fertility enhancing and consequently ecosystem services supply. Specifically they might include: 1) C soil sequestration and thus crop productivity improvement; 2) nutrients cycle enhancement to foster a more efficient use by plant and microorganism community and an economic benefit specifically in terms of N fertilizers saving; 3) CO₂ emissions reduction. These findings might provide to farmers useful information regarding different agricultural managements of perennial bioenergy systems, especially in case of continuous crops cultivation. In addition, the considered managements might represent a relevant support for policy makers in order to preserve and improve soil fertility. Finally, the research outcomes might be used for parameterizing C dynamics simulation models in order to better understand strengths and weaknesses resulting from the different agricultural managements application in energy cropping systems in the long term.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

References

- Aguilera E, Lassaletta L, Gattinger A, Gimeno BS (2013) Managing soil carbon for climate change mitigation and adaptation in Mediterranean cropping systems: A meta-analysis. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 168:25-36. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2013.02.003
- Al-Adamat R, Rawajfih Z, Easter M, Paustian K, Coleman K, Milne E, Falloon P, Powlson DS, Batjes NH (2007) Predicted soil organic carbon stocks and changes in Jordan between 2000 and 2030 made using the GEFSOC Modelling System. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 122:35-45. doi:10.1016/j. agee.2007.01.00
- Albaladejo J, Ortiz R, Garcia-Franco N, Ruiz Navarro A, Almagro M, Garcia Pintado J, Martinez-Mena M (2013) Land use and climate change impacts on soil organic carbon stocks in semi-arid Spain. J. Soils Sediments. 13:265-277. doi:10.1007/s11368-012-0617-7
- Alberti G, Delle Vedove G, Zuliani M, Peressotti A, Castaldi S, Zerbi G (2010) Changes in CO₂ emissions after crop conversion from continuous maize to alfalfa. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 136:139-14. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2009.12.012
- Angelini LG, Ceccarini L, Nassi o di Nasso N, Bonari E (2009) Long-term evaluation of biomass production and quality of two cardoon (Cynara cardunculus L.) cultivars for energy use. Biomass Bioenergy. 33:810-816. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2008.12.004
- Anthony WDA, John BB, Shawn F, Brian JP (2011) Forest management for mitigation and adaptation to climate change: Insights from long-term silviculture experiments. For. Ecol. Manage. 262:803-816. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2011.05.014
- Archontoulis SV, Struik PC, Vos J, Danalatos NG (2010) Phenological growth stages of Cynara cardunculus: codification and description according to the BBCH scale. Ann. Appl. Biol. 156:253-270. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2009.00384.x
- Austin EE, Wickings K, Mcdaniel MD, Robertson GP, Grandy AS (2017) Cover crop root contributions to soil carbon in a no-till corn bioenergy cropping system. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 9:1252-1263. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12428
- Bae K, Lee DK, Fahey TJ, Woo SY, Quaye AK, Lee YK (2013) Seasonal variation of soil respiration rates in a secondary forest and agroforestry systems. Agroforest Syst. 87:131-139. doi:10.1007/s10457-012-9530-8
- Biederman LA, Harpole WS (2013) Biochar and its effects on plant productivity and nutrient cycling: A meta-analysis. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 5:202-214. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12037

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Blanco-Canqui H (2013) Crop residue removal for bioenergy reduces soil organic carbon pools: how can we offset carbon losses?. Bioenerg. Res. 6:358-371. doi:10.1007/s12155-012-9221-3
- Blanco-Canqui H, Mikha MM, Presley DR, Claassen MM (2011) Addition of cover crops enhances no-till potential for improving soil physical properties. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 75:1471-1482. doi:10.2136/sssaj2010.0430
- Bonin CL, Lal R (2014) Aboveground productivity and soil carbon storage of biofuel crops in Ohio. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 6:67-75. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12249
- Brandão M, Milà i Canals L (2013) Global characterisation factors to assess land use impacts on biotic production. Int. J. Life. Cycle Assess. 18:1243-1252. doi:10.1007/s11367-012-0381-3
- Cardon ZG, Hungate BA, Cambardella CA, Chapin III FS, Field CB, Holland ES, Mooney HA (2001) Contrasting effects of elevated CO₂ on old and new soil carbon pools. Soil Biol. Biochem. 33:365-373. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00151-6
- Celette F, Findeling A, Gary C (2009) Competition for nitrogen in an unfertilized intercropping system: The case of an association of grapevine and grass cover in a Mediterranean climate. Eur. J. Agron. 30:41.51. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2008.07.003
- Chen Z, Xu Y, Fan J, Yu H, Ding W (2017) Soil autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration in response to different N fertilization and environmental conditions from a cropland in Northeast China. Soil Biol. Biochem. 110:103-115. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.03.011
- Chimento C, Almagro M, Amaducci S (2014) Carbon sequestration potential in perennial bioenergy crops: the importance of organic matter inputs and its physical protection. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 1:111-121. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12232
- Christodoulou C, Koytsoumpa EI, Panopoulos KD, Karellas S, Kakaras E (2014) Agglomeration problems during cardoon fluidized bed gasification. Therm. Sci. 18:645-656. doi:10.2298/TSCI130329132C
- Conant RT, Paustian K, Elliott ET (2001) Grassland management and conversion into grassland: effect on soil carbon. Ecol. Appl. 11:343-355. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2001)011[0343:GMACIG]2.0.CO;2
- Contosta AR, Frey SD, Cooper AB (2015) Soil microbial communities vary as much over time as with chronic warming and nitrogen addition. Soil Biol. Biochem. 88:19-24. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.04.013

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Crème A, Chabbi A, Gastal F, Rumpel C (2017) Biogeochemical nature of grassland soil organic matter under plant communities with two nitrogen sources. Plant Soil. 415:189-201. doi:10.1007/s11104-016-3158-9
- Davidson EA, Janssens IA (2006) Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440:165-173. doi:10.1038/nature04514
- Deligios PA, Sulas L, Spissu E, Re GA, Farci R, Ledda L (2017) Effect of input management on yield and energy balance of cardoon crop systems in Mediterranean environment. Eur. J. Agron. 82:173-181. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2016.10.016
- Deng W, Van Zwieten L, Lin Z, Lui X, Sarmah AK, Wang H (2017) Sugarcane bagasse biochars impact respiration and greenhouse gas emission from a latosol. J. Soils Sediments. 17: 632-640. doi:10.1007/s11368-015-1347-4
- Desogus F, Pili F, Carta R (2016) Experimental study on the axial mass transport of minced biomass (rape straw) into a pyrolysis rotating reactor working in the slipping regime. Chem. Eng. Sci. 145:80-89. doi:10.1016/j.ces.2016.02.021
- Ding WX, Meng L, Yin YF, Cai ZC, Zheng XH (2007) CO₂ emission in an intensively cultivated loam as affected by long-term application of organic manure and nitrogen fertilizer. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39:669-679. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.09.024
- Ding Y, Liu Y, Liu S, Li Z, Tan X, Huang X, Zeng G, Zhou L, Zheng B (2016) Biochar to improve soil fertility. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 36:36. doi:10.1007/s13593-016-0372-z
- Farina R, Seddaiu G, Orsini R, Steglich E, Roggero PP, Francaviglia R (2011) Soil carbon dynamics and crop productivity as influenced by climate change in a rain-fed cereal system under contrasting tillage using EPIC. Soil Till. Res. 112:236-248 doi:10.1016/j.still.2010.11.002
- Ferchaud F, Vitte G, Mary B (2016) Changes in soil carbon stocks under perennial and annual bioenergy crops. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 2:209-306. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12249
- Fernández J, Curt MD, Aguado PL (2006) Industrial applications of Cynara cardunculus L. for energy and other uses. Ind. Crops Prod. 24:222-229. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2006.06.010
- Fierer N, Strickland MS, Liptzin D, Bradford MA, Cleveland CC (2009) Global patterns in belowground communities. Ecol. Lett. 12:1238-1249. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01360.x

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Fonte SJ, Quintero DC, Velasquez E, Lavelle P (2012) Interactive effects of plants and earthworms on the physical stabilization of soil organic matter in aggregates. Plant Soil. 359:205-214. doi:10.1007/s11104-012-1199-2
- Francaviglia R, Bruno A, Falcucci M, Farina R, Renzi G, Russo DE, Sepe L, Neri U (2016) Yields and quality of Cynara cardunculus L. wild and cultivated cardoon genotypes. A case study from a marginal land in Central Italy. Eur. J. Agron. 72:10-19. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2015.09.014
- Francaviglia R, Renzi G, Ledda L, Benedetti A (2017) Organic carbon pools and soil biological fertility are affected by land use intensity in Mediterranean ecosystems of Sardinia, Italy. Sci. Total. Environ. 599-600:789-796. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.021
- Fronning BE, Thelen KD, Min D (2008) Use of manure, compost, and cover crops to supplant crop residue carbon in corn stover removed cropping systems. Agron. J. 100:1703–1710. doi:10.2134/agronj2008.0052
- Garten CT Jr, Wullschleger SD (2000) Soil carbon dynamics beneath switchgrass as indicated by stable isotope analysis. J. Environ. Qual. 29:645-653. doi:10.2134/jeq2000.00472425002900020036x
- Gauder M, Billen N, Zikeli S, Laub M, Graeff-Honninger S, Claupein W (2016) Soil carbon stocks in different bioenergy cropping systems including subsoil. Soil Till. Res. 155:308-317. doi:10.1016/j.still.2015.09.005
- Giardina CP, Binkley D, Ryan MG, Fownes JH, Senock RS (2004) Belowground carbon cycling in a humid tropical forest decreases with fertilization. Oecologia. 139:545-550. doi:10.1007/s00442-004-1552-0
- Graham MH, Haynes RJ, Meyer JH (2002) Soil organic matter content and quality: effects of fertilizer applications, burning and trash retention on a long-term sugarcane experiment in South Africa. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34:93-102. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(01)00160-2
- Kallenbach CM, Grandy AS (2011) Controls over soil microbial biomass responses to carbon amendments in agricultural systems: a meta-analysis. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 144:241-252. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2011.08.020
- Kallenbach CM, Grandy AS, Frey SD, Diefendorf AF (2015) Microbial physiology and necromass regulate agricultural soil carbon accumulation. Soil Biol. Biochem. 91:279-290. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.09.005

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Kiese R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2002) N₂O and CO₂ emissions from three different tropical forest sites in the wet tropics of Queensland, Australia. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34:975-987. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00031-7
- Kottek M, Grieser J, Beck C, Rudolf B, Rubel F (2006) World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. Meteorol. Z. 15:259-263. doi:10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- Kuo S (1996) Phosphorus. In: Sparks DL (Ed), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Chemical Methods. S.S.S.A, Madison, pp 869–919
- Lal R (2011) Sequestering carbon in soils of agro-ecosystems. Food Policy. 36:S33-S39. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.12.00
- Lal R (2016) Beyond COP 21: potential and challenges of the "4 per Thousand" initiative. J. Soil Water Conserv. 71:20-25. doi:10.2489/jswc.71.1.20A
- Laudicina VA, Novara A, Gristina L, Badalucco L (2014) Soil carbon dynamics as affected by long-term contrasting cropping systems and tillages under semiarid Mediterranean climate. Appl. Soil Ecol. 73:140-147.doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.09.002
- Ledda L, Deligios PA, Farci R, Sulas L (2013) Biomass supply for energetic purpose from some Cardueae species grown in Mediterranean farming systems. Ind. Crops. Prod. 47:218-226. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop. 2013.03.013.
- Lehtinen T, Schlatter N, Baumgarten A, Bechini L, Krüger J, Grignani C, Zavattaro Costamagna C, Spiegel H (2014) Effect of crop residue incorporation on soil organic carbon and greenhouse gas emissions in European agricultural soils. Soil Use Manage. 30:524-538. doi:10.1111/sum.12151
- Lellei-Kovács E, Kovács-Láng E, Botta-Dukát Zoltán, Kalapos T, Emmett B, Beier C (2011) Thresholds and interactive effects of soil moisture on the temperature response of soil respiration. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 47:247-255. doi:10.1016/j.ejsobi.2011.05.004
- Loeppert RH, Suarez DL (1996) Carbonate and gypsum. In: Bartels JM (Ed), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Chemical Methods. SSSA-ASA, Madison, WI, USA, pp 437–474.
- McDaniel MD, Tiemann LK, Grandy AS (2014) Does agricultural crop diversity enhance soil microbial biomass and organic matter dynamics? A meta-analysis. Ecol. Appl. 24:560-570. doi:10.1890/13-0616.135
- Mendez-Millan M, Dignac M-F, Rumpel C, Rasse DP, Derenne S (2010) Molecular dynamics of shoot vs. root biomarkers in an agricultural soil estimated by natural abundance ¹³C labelling. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42:169-177. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.10.010

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Metz B, Davidson OR, Bosch PR, Dave R, Meyer LA (2007) Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Mia S, van Groenigen JW, van de Voorde, TFJ, Oram NJ, Bezemer TM, Mommer L, Jeffery S (2014) Biochar application rate affects biological nitrogen fixation in red clover conditional on potassium availability. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 191:83-91. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.027
- Mishra U, Ussiri D, Lal R (2010) Tillage effects on soil organic carbon storage and dynamics in Corn Belt of Ohio USA. Soil Till. Res. 107:88-96. doi:10.1016/j.still.2010.02.005
- Muñoz-Rojas M, Jordán A, Zavala LM, De la Rosa D, Abd-Elmabod SK, Anaya-Romero M (2012) Organic carbon stocks in Mediterranean soil types under different land uses. Solid Heart 3:375-386. doi:10.5194/se-3-375-2012
- Nair PKR, Kumar BM, Nair VD (2009). Agroforestry as a strategy for carbon sequestration. J. Plant. Nutr. Soil. Sci. 172:10-23 doi:10.1002/jpln.200800030
- Nocentini A, Monti A (2017) Land-use change from poplar to switchgrass and giant reed increases soil organic carbon. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 37:23. doi:10.1007/s13593-017-0435-9
- Pérez-Álvarez EP, García-Escudero E, Peregrina F (2015) Soil nutrient availability under cover crops: effects on vines, must, and wine in a tempranillo vineyard. Am. J .Enol. Vitic. 66:3. doi:10.5344/ajev.2015.14092
- Raccuia SA, Melilli MG (2010) Seasonal dynamics of biomass, inulin, and water-soluble sugars in roots of Cynara cardunculus L. Field Crops Res. 116:147-153. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2009.12.005.
- Rasse DP, Rumpel C, Dignac MF (2005) Is soil carbon mostly root carbon? Mechanisms for a specific stabilisation. Plant Soil. 269:341.356. doi:10.1007/s11104-004-0907-y
- Richter GM, Agostini F, Redmile-Gordon M, White R, Goulding KWT (2015) Sequestration of C in soils under Miscanthus can be marginal and is affected by genotype-specific root distribution. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 200:169-177. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2014.11.011
- Sainju UM, Singh BP, Whitehead WF (2002) Long-term effects of tillage, cover crops, and nitrogen fertilization on organic carbon and nitrogen concentrations in sandy loam soils in Georgia, USA. Soil Till. Res. 63:167-179. doi:10.1016/S0167-1987(01)00244-6

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Sainju UM, Whitehead WF, Singh BP (2003) Cover crops and nitrogen fertilization effects on soil aggregation and carbon and nitrogen pools. Can. J. Soil Sci. 83:155-165. doi:10.4141/S02-056
- Sartori F, Lala R, Ebidenger MH, Parrish DJ (2006) Potential Soil Carbon Sequestration and CO2 Offset by Dedicated Energy Crops in the USA. Plant Sci. 25:441-472. doi:10.1080/07352680600961021
- SAS Software (1999) Version 9.02. SAS Institute Inc, Cary
- Sinsabaugh RL, Carreiro MM, Repert DA (2002) Allocation of extracellular enzymatic activity in relation to litter composition, N deposition, and mass loss. Biogeochemistry. 60:1-24. doi:10.1023/A:1016541114786
- Soil Survey Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, twelfth edition. United State Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service, Missouri, MO, USA, pp 173-210
- Spissu E (2015) A Mediterranean cropping system for bioenergetics purposes: *Cynara cardunculus* var. *altilis*. PhD Dissertation, University of Sassari, Italy.
- Stagnari F, Maggio A, Galieni A, Pisante M (2017) Multiple benefits of legumes for agriculture sustainability: an overview. Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric. 4:2 doi:10.1186/s40538-016-0085-1
- Tiemann LK, Grandy AS, Atkinson EE, Marin-Spiotta E, McDaniel MD (2015) Crop rotational diversity enhances belowground communities and functions in an agroecosystem. Ecol. Lett. 18:761-771. doi:10.1111/ele.12453
- Tsuji GY, Hoogenboom G, Thornton PK (1998) Understanding options of agricultural production. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers and International Consortium for Agricultural Systems Application.
- Vasilakoglou I, Dhima K (2014) Potential of two cardoon varieties to produce biomass and oil under reduced irrigation and weed control inputs. Biomass Bioenerg. 63:177-186. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.01.052.
- Ventura M, Zhang C, Baldi E, Fornasier F, Sorrenti G, Panzacchi P, Tonon G (2014) Effect of biochar addition on soil respiration partitioning and root dynamics in an apple orchard. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 64:186-195. doi:10.1111/ejss.12095
- Wang W, Dalal R (2006) Carbon inventory for a cereal cropping system under contrasting tillage, nitrogen fertilisation and stubble management practices. Soil Till. Res. 91:68-74. doi:10.1016/j.still.2005.11.005

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Woolf D, Amonette JE, Street-Perrott FA, Lehmann J, Joseph S (2010) Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change. Nat. Commun. 1:1-9. doi:1038/ncomms1053
- Yu ZH, Wang GH, Marsthner P (2014) Drying and rewetting-effect of frequency of cycles and length of moist period on soil respiration and microbial biomass. Eur. J. Soil. Biol. 62:132-137. doi:10.1016/J.Ejsobi.2014.03.007
- Yuste JC, Baldocci DD, Gershenson A, Goldstein A, Misson L, Wong S (2007) Microbial soil respiration and its dependency on carbon input, soil temperature and moisture. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13:2018-2035. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01415.x
- Zhang C, Niu D, Hall SJ, Wen H, Li X, Fu H, wan C, Elser JJ (2014) Effects of simulated nitrogen deposition on soil respiration components and their temperature sensitivities in a semiarid grassland. Soil Biol. Biochem. 75:113-123. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.04.013
- Zhou LY, Zhou XH, Zhang BC, Lu M, Luo YQ, Liu LL, Li B (2014) Different responses of soil respiration and its components to nitrogen addition among biomes: a meta-analysis. Glob. Chang Biol. Bioenergy. 20:2332-2343. doi:10.1111/gcb.12490

CHAPTER 2: LONG TERM EFFECTS ASSESSMENT ON SOIL ORGANIC CARBON DYNAMIC AND LAND USE CHANGE FOLLOWING ARABLE LAND CONVERSION TO ENERGY CROPPING SYSTEM IN MEDITERRANEAN ENVIRONMENT

1. Introduction

The global energy demand from renewable sources is increasing in developed countries. In order to face this need the agricultural land uses might undergo a diversification in terms of production purposes in the coming decades. This shift might cause: a) the conversion of agricultural cropping systems, especially from food/feed to energy cropping systems specifically dedicated to biomass production to be used for energy purposes (Bellido et al. 2014; Fargione et al. 2008); b) the agricultural cropping systems conversion might lead to continuous energy crops cultivation. However the Land Use Change (LUC) resulting from the new cropping systems development is a debated issue worldwide. Some authors put on evidence the question of land completion of food/nonfood crops and possible effects that might cause on food security especially in the developing countries (Smith et al. 2010; Albanito et al. 2016). Other studies underlined that LUC might trigger both a biodiversity reduction if the energy cropping systems cultivation is extended over time (Eggers et al. 2009; Huston and Marland 2003; Robertson et al. 2008) and cause an alteration on soil organic carbon (SOC) dynamics (Anderson-Teixeira et al. 2009).

On the contrary, different researches focused on LUC positive effects that perennial energy cropping systems might provide in terms of ecosystem services. For instance, Peyne (2010) and Ceotto and Di Candilo (2011) highlighted that the switch from food/feed crops to perennial energy cultivations might enhance carbon sequestration within soil, contributing to the mitigation of CO_2 emissions in the atmosphere. Furthermore Blanco-Canqui (2010) underlined that the conservative agricultural management of the perennial energy cropping systems might improve the soil structure, thus preserving its fertility.

The LUC effects might be different depending on: a) fertility and soil capability to store the SOC (Crossman et al. 2011; West et al. 2010); b) site- specific climatic conditions (Trail et al. 2013) and, c) the LUC type and the adopted agronomic management (Post and Kwon, 2000, Guo and Gifford 2002). A crucial issue in order to foster the energy cropping systems development might be their environmental sustainability without jeopardizing soil fertility in the future. To this end it would be necessary to perform an impacts assessment with respect to the SOC dynamics arising from the switch to the energy continuous cropping systems from arable cropping systems. SOC is a priority factor in order to preserve soil fertility since it also affects its physical, chemical and biological properties (Lal et al. 2011). In addition, a SOC content increase can

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

improve crop productivity (Smith and Olesen 2010) and it can also foster a CO₂ emissions reduction (Harris et al. 2013; Lal et al. 2010). Andreson-Teixeira et al. (2009) indicated that the conversion from uncultivated soil to both annual (e.g. maize) and perennial energy cropping systems (e.g. miscanthus and switchgrass) might produce a SOC content decrease that is higher in the conversion to annual energy cropping systems compared to perennial crops. Furthermore, as reported by Mishra et al. (2013) and Qiu et al. (2012) the carbon dynamics evaluation performed by simulation models applied to energy cropping systems (e.g. miscanthus and switchgrass) showed a potential SOC content increase in the long term. Frequently, the LUC effects assessment are focused on SOC dynamics in the surface soil layers neglecting the deepest ones. This is basically due to the fact that the greater soil organic matter (SOM) contribution occurs in the first 20-30 cm of soil. On the contrary Harrison et al. (2011) and Knops and Bradley (2009) underlined the relevance of addressing C dynamics analysis over 30 cm, especially when the cropping systems conversion regards perennial crops characterized by a deep root system. Generally the highest soil C stock was detected in perennial cropping systems in the deep layers (beyond 30 cm) where the C mineralization processes are slower (Fornara and Tilman 2008; Monti and Zatta 2009).

The agricultural managements might play a crucial role in terms of LUC. Indeed soil tillage can reduce the SOC content (20-40%) (Davidson and Ackerman 1993; Murty et al. 2002). On the contrary, conservative management (e.g. no-tillage) - generally carried out for perennial energy cropping systems - might increase soil C accumulation and thus play a role in terms of climate change mitigation strategy (Benacchi et al. 2005; Lal 2004; DeLuca and Zabinski 2011). The time after conversion from food/feed cropping systems to the energy one might also affect the soil capacity in order to achieve its steady-state. The short-term experimental trials aimed to assess LUC impacts arising from the switch from food/feed cropping systems to perennial energy cropping systems might not provide adequate explanations about C dynamics and its sequestration rate in the soil, thus contributing to increase the uncertainty about the actual contribution of land use changes on C dynamics. Therefore the research objective is to analyze the long term effects on SOC dynamic arising from LUC owing to switch from an annual food/feed cropping system to a perennial energy crop cultivation.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Site characterization and experimental design

The field study was conducted at the "Mauro Deidda" experimental station of the University of Sassari, Sardinia, in Southern Italy (41° N, 8° E, elevation 81 m a.s.l.) from 2014 to 2017. The climate of the site is typically Mediterranean (Köppen classification, Kottek et al. 2006) with mild and humid winters and warm dry summers. The mean air temperature is 16.1 °C and the annual average precipitation of the site is 550 mm, mainly distributed between October and April. The experiment was set up to evaluate the impact of land use change in terms of CO_2 fluxes and soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks following a shift from a barley-field bean 2-year rotation to a perennial cardoon cropping system (Figure 1).



Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 1: *a Cynara cardunculus* cropping system for bio-energy purpose, *b* and *c* traditional biannual rotation of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L. var. Multie) and field bean (*Vicia faba* L. cv. Prothabat)

The perennial cropping system was already described in the previous chapter. The experimental design was a split-plot with four replicates. For the objective of the current paper, only Bianco Avorio genotype was accounted for, and low rate of N fertilizer (LW), high rate of N fertilizer (HI) and low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar (LW-B) treatments were considered as land use compared to biannual rotation. The cardoon cropping systems management are detailed in figure 2. Before the cardoon implanting a trial on cardoon with different mineral fertilizer doses was conducted for eight years (Deligios et al. 2017; Ledda et al. 2013) in the same field and yet even before barley to field bean rotation were cultivated.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 2: Scheme of perennial cropping systems management for the three growing seasons. LW: low rate of N fertilizer; HI: high rate of N fertilizer and LW-B: low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar. BBCH code (Archontoulis et al. 2010) refers to phenological growth stage during which fertilizer was applied.

All the phases of the rotation were present each year arranged in a completely randomize blocks design with four replicates and placed in a field adjacent to the cardoon one.

Each year, mouldboard ploughing was carried out in September, and seed bed preparation was carried out in early October, just prior to field bean sowing. In both year, barley (cv. Multie, RAGT Italia Srl) and field bean (cv. Prothabat, CGS Sementi Spa, Italy) were sown in January and October at a density of 350 and 30 seeds m^{-2} , respectively. Barley was annually fertilized with 92 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ (as diammonium phosphate) and 82 kg N ha⁻¹ (as diammonium phosphate and urea) applied pre-sowing. No fertilizer was applied in the field bean plots (Figure 3).

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

A mixture of tifensulfuron metile and tribenuron metile (Nautius, Belchim Crop Protection SPA, Italy) was applied each year to barley at Zadocks stage 30-32 at a rate of 40 and 15 g a.i. ha⁻¹, respectively. In field bean, broad-leaved weeds were controlled using an annual application of imazamox at a rate of 40 g a.i. ha⁻¹ (Imazamox 40, Agrimag srl), carried out in later winter. Herbicides were applied at a spray pressure of 300 kPa with fan-type noozles. Both crops were harvested for grain, field bean in early July, and barley in mid-June. Crop residues were incorporated into the soil.



Figure 3: Scheme of biannual rotation management.

In both experimental fields (perennial system and biannual rotation), the soil are sandy clay loam (Typic Haploxerepts, Soil Taxonomy, 2014) overlay on limestone. The main physical and chemical characteristics of the soils are: 65% sandy, 15% silt and 20% clay. The average total nitrogen content is 1.8 g kg⁻¹ and 1.2 g kg⁻¹ respectively. The total carbon content and organic matter content varies between fields. It is equal to 50 g kg⁻¹ and 31 g kg⁻¹ in the first experimental field and 40 g kg⁻¹ and 25 g kg⁻¹ in the second field

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

2.2 Soil sampling and carbon stock evaluation

In order to evaluate over time the change in SOC stock in both experimental fields soil sampling was carried out at the same point and time during each growing season (November 2014, 2015 and 2016). Soil samples were collected with a hand probe at two depth intervals: 0–20 and 20–40 cm. All soil samples were transported in the laboratory and dried at 40 °C per 72 h. Successively each sample was sieved to 2.0 mm and any possible crop and roots residue was removed. Chemical soil parameters were determined according to standard methods (Supplement issue to G.U. n 248 of 21st October 1999). Specifically soil pH was determined in a 1:2.5 soil/water suspension ratio. Total organic carbon and nitrogen contents were measured by dry combustion method using an elemental analyzer LECO (CHN628 Series, LECO Corporation, St Joseph, MI, USA). Soil sample for soil organic carbon determination, was treated at 550 °C muffle furnace for 2 hours before analysis. Soil organic matter content (g kg⁻¹) was determined according to Francaviglia et al. (2017), multiplying total organic C by 1.72. To assess the SOC stock in both experimental trials we used the procedure of Wang and Dalal (2006) in which:

SOC stock = SOC content \times Bd \times D

where SOC stock was expressed in Mg ha⁻¹. SOC content (g kg⁻¹) is soil organic carbon, Bd is the bulk density (g cm³), estimated using a pedotransfer function (Tsuji et al. 1998), and D (m) is soil depth interval.

2.3 Soil respiration measurement

Soil respiration rates (SRr) was measured in order to improve knowledge of the link between SRr and land use change. A total of 18 PVC collars (10 cm diameter and depth, with perforated walls in the first 5 cm) were placed permanently in cardoon cropping systems only in two of the four replicates (in the middle of the field) to minimize border effect. Furthermore, in the soil was inserted an external PVC cylinder (40 cm diameter and depth) to exclude autotrophic respiration (Alberti et al. 2010). In the biannual rotation field, 8 collars (10 cm diameter and depth) were inserted into the soil before the sowing of crops according to the randomize block design. During the measurement the collars were situated at 1 cm from the soil surface to reduce the impact of chamber installation. SRr was measured with a portable non-dispersive infrared gas analyzer (IRGA) EGM-4 (PP-Systems, Hitchin, UK) connected to a SRC-1 chamber fitted to the collar. In both trials SRr measurements were performed weekly for all growing seasons and between 9:00 and 12:00 am. Simultaneously to SRr measurements, soil temperature and soil water content

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

were measured using a probe inserted in the soil to the 10 cm depth and FieldScout TDR 300 (Spectrum Technologies Inc.) respectively.

2.4 Statistical analysis

The analysis was performed using SAS Software (1999, version 9.02. SAS Institute Inc, Cary). The comparisons between initial (2007) and final soil conditions (2014) of the previous cardoon growing cycle were made by using the Student's t-test. Data on soil organic carbon (g kg⁻¹), SOC stock (Mg ha⁻¹), total N (g kg⁻¹) and C:N ratio were reported as mean and standard error of the mean (\pm SE). Data of the final soil condition were considered as baseline conditions for the experiment reported in the current paper.

After testing for normality (Kolmogorov–Smirnov test) and homogeneity of variance (Levene test), a three-way ANOVA (main effects and interactions) for soil respiration, moisture and temperature involved the year (2015-2016, and 2016–2017) (factor 1), the management (HI, LW, LW-B, and biannual rotation) (factor 2), and depth (0-20 cm and 20-40 cm) (factor 3). In three-way ANOVA the differences among means were identified by post hoc Tukey tests. For the Student's t-test and ANOVA p-values < 0.05 were considered significant.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

Results and discussion

3.1 Biannual cropping system conversion to perennial cropping system

The soil chemical parameters at different depth and sampling year are shown in Table 1. The analysis highlighted statistically significant differences in soil organic content (SOC) between 2007 and 2014 sampling years at surface layer, with an increase of 41%, while there was not significant effect of the sampling year on SOC at 20-40 cm.

In both depths and sampling years significant difference from SOC stocks were observed. The SOC stock was always higher in second sampling year (2014) and in the deepest layer. Specifically, the increase of SOC stock was +52.7% at 0-20 cm and +50% at 20-40 cm.

 Table 1: Chemical soil properties of two sampling years

Depth (cm)	Sampling year	Soil Organic Carbon (g kg ⁻¹)	SOC stock (Mg ha ⁻¹)	Total N (g kg ⁻¹)	C:N ratio
0-20	2007	12.8±0.11 b	36.6±0.92 b	1.13±0.03 b	11.3±0.39
	2014	18.1±0.29 a	55.0±2.84 a	1.81±0.04 a	11.3±0.51
20-40	2007	9.8±0.82	69.3±0.72 b	1.03±0.03 b	11.3±0.35
	2014	16.3±0.33	104.4±5.51 a	1.69±0.05 a	10.8 ± 0.57

For sampling years (2007; 2014), within each column, means followed by different letters are significantly different according to Student's t-test ($P \le 0.05$).

The results of Student's t-test applied to SOC content and SOC stock put on evidence that sampling year and consequently the management adopted before soil sampling affected these soil chemical properties. The higher organic carbon and SOC stock observed in the second sampling year may depend on soil management practices and cropping systems adopted. Conversion of biannual system characterized by conventional tillage with residue incorporation to no tillage management (perennial system) increase organic carbon and SOC stock. Our findings are supported by Almagro et al. (2017) that in Mediterranean condition found an increase of SOC sequestration in no-till compared to conventional tillage with residue incorporation.

Furthermore, the increase of SOC stock in the long run (after 8 years) in both depths are in agreement with studies conducted by Ceotto and Di Candilo (2011) and Chimento et al. (2014) that reported that a conversion from an annual feed cropping system to a perennial one provides a substantial SOC sequestration after 7 and 6 years, respectively.

The SOC stocks during the eight years of cardoon cultivation (2007-2014) showed an increasing trend over time. This increase of SOC stock was of +26.7 Mg ha⁻¹ (yearly average increase of +3.34 Mg ha⁻¹). Although there is a large potential to sequester SOC following land use change to perennial system, this potential could be attributed to the extensive roots system of perennial

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

plant. This roots system had a high capacity of allocation of C and it contributes to provide organic matter to soil (Jungers et al. 2017). In addition the increase of SOC stock can be due to formation of root exudates (organo-mineral complexes) that promote microbial activity and SOC sequestration in the long run (Bolan et al. 2011; Miltner et al. 2012). Our studies confirmed that the conversion of biannual rotation to perennial bioenergy crops increase SOC sequestration contributing to mitigation of CO_2 emissions. In addition, increase SOC stock can provide further beneficial services such as increase productivity, soil conservation and fertility.

Total N content showed a trend similar to SOC stock within sampling year and depth (Table 1). In the second sampling year significant differences in both depths were observed. Maximum total N content was observed in 2014 sampling year in surface layer, while minimum total N value was found at 20-0 cm in the first sampling year. Specifically, the increase throughout the eight years (2007-2014) were equal to +60.2% at 0-20 cm and +64% at 20-40 cm, respectively. The effects of depth and sampling year on C:N ratio were not significant.

During the eight years of cardoon cultivation N fertilization was supplied (Deligios et al. 2017; Ledda et al. 2013). Analyzing our results, increase of total N content at the end of cardoon cultivation cycle (2014) in the surface layer was likely due to mineral fertilizer applied over the entire cultivation period. Furthermore, the highest total N value at 20-40 cm depth might be explained by cardoon capacity to store N within below-ground biomass (Fike et al. 2006), since N is translocated to roots system that after a decomposition process provide N to the sub-soil. This outcomes is also supported by Mauromicale et al. (2014) who detected the same trend of total N after seven years of cardoon cultivation. By contrast, the continuous conventional tillage, adopted before cardoon planting, might have produced the lowest N values observed at both depth in 2007 fostering mineralization process and as a consequence N release (FAO, 2001).

3.2 Soil properties in second crop cycle of cardoon

Some properties of soil observed during the 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons are reported in table 2. The SOC content was significantly affected by growing season, management and depth. The highest SOC content was observed in the 2015-2016 growing season and in the surface layer (0-20 cm), with significant differences compared to 2016-2017 and deep layer respectively. Management significantly affected soil organic C. Specifically, the lowest SOC content was observed in LW-B treatment of perennial system.

SOC stock was also significantly affected by growing season with a reduction of the 13.5% in 2016-2017 compared to the 2015-2016 (Table 2). Furthermore, a significant management x depth interaction was observed (Table 2).

Tabl	e 2:	Mixed mod	el analysis	of v	variance	associated	with	the	growing	season,	management	and d	lepth
analy	zed.												

Factors		Organic C	SOC stock	Total N	C:N ratio
		(g kg ⁻)	$(Mg ha^{-})$	(g kg ⁻)	
Growing season					
2015-2016		15 a	60.2 a	1.3	11.6 a
2016-2017		12 b	52.1 b	1.3	9.7 b
Management					
LW		15 a	60.9 a	1.4 a	11.3
HI		14 ab	57.4 a	1.3 ab	10.8
LW-B		12 b	518 bc	1.3 a	9.9
Biannual rotation		13 b	54.5 b	1.2 b	10.8
Depth					
0-20		14 a	42.8 b	1.4 a	10.6
20-40		13 b	69.5 a	1.2 b	10.7
	DC	D F			
Analysis of variance	Dī	P>F	P>F	P>F	P>F
Growing season	1	***	***	N.S.	**
Management	3	**.	*	*	N.S.
Depth	1	**	***	***	N.S.
Growing season × management	3	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.
Growing season × depth	1	N.S.	N.S	N.S.	N.S.
Management × depth	3	N.S.	**	N.S.	N.S.
Growing season \times management \times depth	3	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.

LW: low rate of N fertilizer, HI: high rate of N fertilizer, LW-B: low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar,

Component of variation: *, **, *** significant at P levels of $P \le 0.05$, 0.01, 0.001 (Tukey's Test) respectively; N.S. not significant.

For each parameter (growing season, management, depth), within each column, means followed by different letters are significantly different according to Tukey's test ($P \le 0.05$).

The SOC stocks showed always lowest values in the surface layer (0-20 cm) and an increase in deep layer, with a significant differences within management of the perennial system that showed the highest SOC stock in deep layer. Specifically, LW-B management showed higher

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari values (76.5 Mg ha⁻¹) followed by HI (74.8 Mg ha⁻¹) and LW (66.1 Mg ha⁻¹) managements (Table 3).

	SOC stock (Mg ha ⁻¹)			
Factors	a	b		
LW	37.6 bB	66.1 cA		
HI	40.1 aB	74.8 bA		
LW-B	45.2 aB	76.5 aA		
Biannual rotation	48.2 aB	60.8 dA		

Table 3: Mixed model analysis of variance associated with the management x depth interaction

LW: low rate of N fertilizer, HI: high rate of N fertilizer, LW-B: low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar. a: 0-20 cm depth, b:20-40 cm depth.

Different letters indicate significant differences according to Tukey's Test ($P \le 0.05$) among depth (upper case, within row) and management (lower case, within column).

The relationship that links the variation of organic carbon content and SOC stock to growing season, depth and land use is very clear from the data obtained. However, there is high difference between depths due to crop management and land use. Analyzing our results SOC stock was higher in perennial system than biannual system at deep layer and this outcome can be explained with two hypothesis.

The first is the decrease of microbial oxidation activity on carbon organic in perennial system due to no-tillage compared to biannual system. Therefore no tillage permits a longer physical protection of SOC within aggregates reducing SOC microbial mineralization (Six et al. 1999). Alvaro-Fuentes et al. (2009) supported our hypothesis by showing that the SOC, in no-tillage conditions, is included inside the micro-aggregates ($> 250 \mu n$) avoiding microbial decomposition.

The second hypothesis is the great amount of below-ground biomass and the nature of this that returned to the soil in perennial system. This hypothesis is also supported by a review of Don et al. (2012) and Chimento and Amaducci (2015) that underlined the increase of SOC accumulation following the annual cropland conversion to perennial crop, indicating positive effects, on SOC sequester, of roots and rhizomes from these crops in the deep layer (> 30 cm).

By contrast, the higher value of SOC stock observed in biannual system at 0-20 cm (Table 3) is likely a result of positive relationship between C and N mineralization processes (Bendi and Chand 2007). In the biannual system dry residues (straw barley and field bean) were incorporated. These residues are characterized by high C:N ratio and lignin content that limited SOC mineralization. Our results are in accordance with Wang et al. (2015) that reported the

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

mineralization kinetics of crop residues when changing quality. Higher C content reduce SOC mineralization.

The higher SOC content at the LW-B management in deep layer is likely a result of the addition of biochar. The incorporation of biochar in perennial bioenergy system, as substitute of mineral fertilizer, increased SOC sequestration since it provided a recalcitrant substrate that minimized soil microbial activity and SOC mineralization (Mc Cormack et al. 2013).

Total N concentration was significantly influenced by management and depth (Table 2). The higher total N was observed in perennial system with significant differences among managements (LW, HI and LW-B) while the lower total N was observed in biannual system (Table 2). Management with the use of a high rate of nitrogen (100 kg ha⁻¹) and the incorporated biochar showed the lower total N (1.3 g kg⁻¹) compared to LW management (1.4 g kg⁻¹).

The lower value of total N in biannual system was likely due to higher N mineralization following residues incorporation that stimulate microbial activity. This hypothesis is supported by Kumar et al. (2018) that observed a positive correlation between N mineralization and crop residue incorporation in annual system with inserted legumes. On the contrary adopting no tillage in perennial system contributed to reduction of N mineralization process.

The total N decrease along soil depth (Table 2) reached values of 1.2 g kg⁻¹ at 20-40 cm. This outcome might be due to the surface application of N and P fertilizers in both cropping systems.

3.3 Soil respiration pattern in perennial and biannual cropping systems

Soil respiration (SR) was monitored for two different growing seasons 2015-16 and 2016-17 in both systems (perennial and biannual). All figures below depict on the left the SR rates of the 2015-2016 growing season and on the right the SR rates of the 2016-2017 growing season. In biannual system the SR observations occurred from crop establishment (February) onwards.

Soil respiration showed similar seasonal and annual patterns in the perennial and biannual system (Figures 4-6) with differences among managements adopted. The fluxes of SR followed seasonal dynamics of soil temperature and moisture (Figures 4a-6a) as it is typical in semiarid and dry Mediterranean area (Almagro et al. 2009). The maximum values occur in spring with increasing temperature while the minimum values were observed in winter and summer season in both systems. At the sprouting stage (BBCH code 07) in the perennial system at all growing season and managements was supplied mineral fertilizer (ammonium phosphate). This fertilization might have promote nutrients availability for microbial community activity and thus

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

rising CO_2 emissions from the soil. This trend is also confirmed by Chen et al. (2018) that reported a positive feedback on heterotrophic respiration following mineral fertilizer application. A peak of CO_2 efflux was observed for each annual crop, even if in during different periods, in both growing season. In the first growing season the peak occurred in the middle of January, while in 2016-2017 season the peak was observed in October, after ploughing and residues incorporation. The increase of soil respiration due to soil tillage and the creation of favorable soil nutrient conditions was already highlighted by some authors demonstrating that tillage induces change in oxidation status of soil enhancing exposition of crop residues to mineralization (Eriksen and Jensen 2001; Ussiri and Lal 2009).

Figure 4 shows the SR pattern of the perennial system managed with low N rate compared to biannual rotation. CO_2 efflux followed a similar trend in both growing seasons showing gradually increase in spring and reduction at the beginning of summer. Specifically the measured average CO_2 effluxes in the first growing season were 0.44 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ (spring) and 0.28 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ (summer) in perennial system and 0.47g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ (spring) and 0.16 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ (summer) in biannual system. By contrast, in the second growing season perennial system showed lowest average CO_2 emissions during all seasons. Very similar trends of SR rate was observed in HI management of the perennial system (Figure 5). SR was higher in biannual system and followed the seasonal thermo-pluviometric variation (Figure 5a) with highest CO_2 emission in spring in both systems and growing seasons and the lowest value in winter and summer.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 4: Seasonal variation of soil respiration in perennial system (LW: low rate of N fertilization) and biannual rotation during 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons. Bars represent standard errors.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate"* – Ciclo XXX

Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 4a: Seasonal variation of soil temperature and water content over time (from October 2015 to August 2017) for perennial system (left) and biannual system (right). LW: low rate of N fertilizer; T: soil temperature; VWC: volumetric water content.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX

The average SR in cardoon was 0.22, 0.41 and 0.23 g $CO_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$ in winter, spring and summer respectively, while the values increased in biannual system by +9.1% and +14.6% in winter and spring, respectively and decreased by -30.4% in summer after barley harvest.

These outcomes confirmed the relevance of soil temperature and moisture with respect to CO_2 efflux (Reichstein et al. 2003; Savage and Davidson 2001) and underlined the positive effects on SR reduction owed to high N rate fertilizer supplied in perennial system. The surplus of N fertilization (+50 kg ha⁻¹) could be likely not responsible of increasing in microbial activity and thus CO_2 emissions. This hypothesis is also supported by Chen et al. (2017) that after mineral N fertilization observed an increase of autotrophic respiration but not heterotrophic one.

By contrast, a greater SR under biannual system indicates a significant contribution from barley and field bean residues to promote microbial activities. Furthermore, SR is positively correlated with crop residues quality incorporated into soil that provide a source of readily available C and N stimulating microbial activity (Aulakh et al. 2001; Huang et al. 2004).

An et al. (2015) have highlighted - through laboratory experiments - that straw addition in soil characterized by low SOC content intensifies the microbial activity compared to the opposite condition (high SOC content). In our trial the biannual rotation soil was C poor compared to cardoon system; thus crops residues incorporation might trigger - in oxidation conditions - an increase of C decomposition activity and SR process.

The LW-B management of the perennial cropping system was the most conservative in terms of CO_2 emissions (Figure 6). In each growing season the lowest SR was observed in cardoon. Specifically the average of SR values were 0.30 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ and 0.28 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ in cardoon in the first and second growing season, respectively and 0.33 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ and 0.28 g CO_2 m⁻² h⁻¹ in biannual system. The CO_2 emissions showed a seasonal pattern of soil temperature and moisture (Figure 6a). Incorporation of biochar into the soil could have promoted reduction of SR rates likely due to depletion of labile C fraction in favor of aromatic compounds hardly decomposed by microbial community (Streubel et al. 2011).

Furthermore, as reported by Alburquerque et al. (2013) the biochar application enhances relevant soil physico-chemical properties (e.g soil porosity, water retention capacity, cation exchange capacity, etc.), soil fertility, habitat for microbial community development, and crop growing. In our experiment a potential soil fertility enhancement might have fostered an increase of cardoon productivity and a greater root system development. As a consequence, more recalcitrant C was released to soil and SR process was positively influenced.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante* " – Ciclo XXX



Figure 5: Seasonal variation of soil respiration in perennial system (HI: high rate of N fertilization) and biannual rotation during 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons. Bars represent standard errors.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante"* – Ciclo XXX



Figure 5a: Seasonal variation of soil temperature and water content over time (from October 2015 to August 2017) for perennial system (left) and biannual system (right). HI: high rate of N fertilizer; T: soil temperature; VWC: volumetric water content.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Indirec Land Use change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante"* – Ciclo XXX



Figure 6: Seasonal variation of soil respiration in perennial system (LW-B: low rate of N fertilization plus biochar) and biannual rotation during 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons. Bars represent standard errors.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Indirec Land Use change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante"* – Ciclo XXX



Figure 6a: Seasonal variation of soil temperature and water content over time (from October 2015 to August 2017) for perennial system (left) and biannual system (right). LW-B: low rate of N fertilizer plus biochar; T: soil temperature; VWC: volumetric water content.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Indirec Land Use change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante"* – Ciclo XXX

Conclusions

The Land Use Change (LUC) arising from the conversion of a food/feed cropping system to energy cropping system - based on cardoon cultivation - have effects on soil carbon dynamics and storage. In the first cardoon crop cycle (2007) Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) content and SOC stock were lower in deep layer than the second one (2013). The average value of C stock was equal to 53 Mg ha⁻¹ at the beginning of the first cardoon crop cycle. The low SOC content observed in the first growing season was mainly due to the adopted agricultural management. Before 2007, a biannual rotation - based on barley-field bean cropping system - was carried out. This agricultural management - characterized by annual ploughing and the crops residues incorporation - caused a fast mineralization process and higher CO_2 losses in the atmosphere in Mediterranean climatic conditions.

Prior to the experimental period, the study site was continuously cropped with cardoon (cv. "Bianco Avorio") under mineral fertiliser treatments for 8 years (Deligios et al. 2017; Ledda et al. 2013). The average of C stock was equal to 80 Mg ha⁻¹ at the end of the first cardoon crop cycle. The increase of SOC content and SOC stock at the end of the first cardoon growing season might be due to both: 1) residual effects arising from the previous agricultural management (no tillage) adopted before the cardoon planting and 2) residual root biomass of previous cardoon cultivation. The belowground root biomass - not being undergone any agricultural practices for eight years - was the primary source of soil organic matter in the soil maintaining the dynamic balance between mineralization and humification processes. The LUC produced by the switch from biannual rotation to cardoon cropping system has entailed benefits in terms of SOC content enhancement, nutrients availability, soil fertility and in terms of CO₂ emissions reduction.

In 2014 a second experimental trial was conducted to evaluate the consequence of LUC arise from cropland for food/feed to perennial energy crop and to identify which alternative management of energy system provides the best performance in terms of climate change benefit and improving of soil fertility.

Conversion of biannual system to a perennial cropping system based on cardoon showed significant SOC sequestration with differences among managements. LW-B showed the best performance since it compensated for losses as a result of crop re-implanting. The average of SOC stock was increased +10.4% compared to biannual system evidencing that C dynamics might be considerably affected by LUC and by agricultural management adopted. The research outcomes may have important implications for energy cropping systems carbon monitoring providing useful information to understand carbon dynamics in soil following conversion. In addition these results

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

could be used to evaluate soil emission in the overall life cycle of energy crop as the indicator for assessing the performance of various management.

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

References

- Albanito F, Beringer T, Corstanje R, Poulter B, Stephenson A, Zawadzka J, Smith P (2016) Carbon implications of converting cropland to bioenergy crops or forest for climate mitigation: a global assessment. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 8:81-95 doi:10.1111/gcbb.12242
- Alberti G, Delle Vedove G, Zuliani M, Peressotti A, Castaldi S, Zerbi G (2010) Changes in CO₂ emissions after crop conversion from continuous maize to alfalfa. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 136:139-147. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2009.12.012
- Alburquerque JA, Salazar P, Barròn V, Torrent J, Del Carmen del Campillo M, Gallardo A, Villar R (2013) Enhanced wheat yield by biochar addition under different mineral fertilization levels. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 33:475-484. doi:10.1007/s13593-012-0128-3
- Almagro M, Garcia-Franco N, Martinez-Mena (2017) The potential of reducing tillage frequency and incorporating plant residues as a strategy for climate change mitigation in semiarid Mediterranean agroecosystems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 246:210-220. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2017.05.016
- Almagro M, Lòpez J, Querejeta JI, Martìnez-Mena M (2009) Temperature dependence of soil CO₂ efflux is strongly modulated by seasonal patterns of moisture availability in a Mediterranean ecosystem. Soil. Biol. Biochem. 41:594-605. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.12.021
- Alvaro-Fuentes J, Canter-Martnez C, Lopez MV, Paustian K, Denef K, Stewart CE, Arrùe JL (2009) Soil aggregation and soil organic carbon stabilization: effects of management in semiarid Mediterranean agroecosystems. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 73:1519-1529. doi:10.2136/sssaj2008.0333
- An T, Schaeffer S, Zhuang J, Radosevich M, Li S, Li, H, Pei J, Wang J (2015) Dynamics and distribution of 13C-labeled straw carbon by microorganisms as affected by soil fertility levels in the Black Soil region of Northeast China Biol. Fertil. Soils. 51:605-613. doi:10.1007/s00374-015-1006-3
- Anderson-Teixeira K, Davis SC, Masters MD, Delucia EH (2009) Change in soil organic carbon under biofuel crops. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 1:75-96. doi:10.1111/j.1757-1707.2008.01001.x
- Archontoulis SV, Struik PC, Vos J, Danalatos NG (2010) Phenological growth stages of Cynara cardunculus: codification and description according to the BBCH scale. Ann. Appl. Biol. 156:253-270. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2009.00384.x
- Aulakh MS, Khera TS, Doran JW, Bronson KF (2001) Denitrification N₂O and CO₂ fluxes in ricewheat cropping system as affected by crop residues, fertilizer N and legume green manure. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 34:375-389. doi:10.1007/s003740100420

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Bellido LL, Wery J, Bellido RJL (2014) Energy crops: Prospects in the context of sustainable agriculture. Eur. J. Agron. 60:1-12. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2014.07.001
- Bendi DK, Chand M (2007) Quantifying the effect of soil organic matter on indigenous soil N sully and wheat productivity in semiarid sub-tropical India. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. 79:103-112. doi:10.1007/s10705-007-9100-z
- Bernacchi CJ, Hollinger SE, Meyers TP (2005) The conversion of the corn/soybean ecosystem to no-till agriculture may result in a carbon sink. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 12:1585-1586. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01195.x
- Blanco-Canqui H (2010) Energy crops and their implications on soil and environment. Agron. J. 102:403-419. doi:10.2134/agronj2009.0333
- Bolan NS, Adriano DC, Kunhikrishnan A, James T, McDowell R, Senesi N (2011) Chapter one dissolved organic matter: biogeochemistry, dynamics, and environmental significance in soils. Adv. Agron. 110, 1–75.
- Ceotto E, Di Candilo M (2011) Medium-term effect of perennial energy crops on soil organic carbon storage. Ital. J. Agron. 6:212-217. doi:10.4081/ija.2011.e33
- Chen Z, Xu Y, Fan J, Yu H, Ding W (2017) Soil autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration in response to different N fertilization and environmental conditions from a cropland in Northeast China. Soil Biol. Biochem. 110:103-115. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.03.011
- Chen Z, Xu Y, He Y, Zhou X, Fan J, Yu H, Ding W (2018) Nitrogen fertilization stimulated soil heterotrophic but not autotrophic respiration in cropland soils: a greater role of organic over inorganic fertilizer. Soil. Biol. Biochem. 116:253-264. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.10.029
- Chimento C, Almagro M, Amaducci S (2014) Carbon sequestration potential in perennial bioenergy crops: the importance of organic matter inputs and its physical protection. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 1:111-121. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12232
- Chimento C, Amaducci S (2015) Characterization of fine root system and potential contribution to soil organic carbon of six perennial bioenergy crops. Biomass. Bioenergy. 83:116-122. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.09.008
- Crossman ND, Bryan BA, Summers DM (2011) Carbon payments and low-cost conservation. Conserv. Biol. 25:835-845. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01649.x
- Davidson E, Ackerman I (1993) Changes in soil carbon inventories following cultivation of previously untilled soils. Biogeochemistry. 20:161-93. doi:10.1007/BF00000786
- Deligios PA, Sulas L, Spissu E, Re GA, Farci R, Ledda L (2017) Effect of input management on yield and energy balance of cardoon crop systems in Mediterranean environment. Eur. J. Agron. 82:173-181. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2016.10.016

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate*" – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- DeLuca TH, Zabinski CA (2011) Prairie ecosystems and the carbon problem. Front. Ecol. Environ. 9:407-413. doi:10.1890/100063
- Don A, Osborne B, Hastings A, Schiba U, Carter MS, Drewer J, Flessa H, Freibauer A, Hyvonen N, Jones MB, Linigan GJ, Mander U, Monti A, Djomo SN, Valentine J, Wolter K, Zegada-Lizarazu W, Zenone T (2012) Land-use change to bioenergy production in Europe: implications for the greenhouse gas balance and soil carbon. Glob. Change. Biol. Bioenergy. 4:372-391. doi:10.1111/j.1757-1707.2011.01116.x
- Eggers J, Tröltzsch K, Falcucci A, Maiorano L, Verburg PH, Framstad E, Louette G, Maes D, Nagy S, Ozinga W, Delbaere B (2009) Is biofuel policy harming biodiversity in Europe?. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 1:18-34. doi:10.1111/j.1757-1707.2009.01002.x
- Eriksen J, Jensen LS (2001) Soil respiration, nitrogen mineralization and uptake in barley following cultivation of grazed grasslands. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 33:139-145 doi:10.1007/s003740000302
- FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Robert M (2001) Soil carbon sequestration for improved land management. http://www.fao.org/3/a-bl001e.pdf.
- Fargione J, Hill J, Tilman D, Polasky S, Hawthorne P (2008) Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. Science. 319:1235-1238. doi:10.1126/science.1152747
- Fike JH, Parrish DJ, Wolf DD, Balasko JA, Green JT, Rasnake M, Reynolds JH (2006) Long term yield potential of swichgrass-for-biofuel systems. Biomass Bioenergy. 30:198-206. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2005.10.006
- Fornara DA, Tilman D. (2008) Plant functional composition influences rates of soil carbon and nitrogen accumulation. J. Ecol. 96:314-22. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2007.01345.x
- Francaviglia R, Renzi G, Ledda L, Benedetti A (2017) Organic carbon pools and soil biological fertility are affected by land use intensity in Mediterranean ecosystems of Sardinia, Italy. Sci. Total. Environ. 599-600:789-796. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.021
- Guo LB, Gifford RM (2002) Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta-analysis. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 8:345-360. doi:10.1046/j.1354-1013.2002.00486.x
- Harris ZM, Spake R, Taylor G (2013) Land use change to bioenergy: A meta-analysis of soil carbon and GHG emission. Biomass Bionergy. 82:27-39. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.05.008
- Harrison RB, Footen PW, Strahm BD (2011) Deep soil horizons: Contribution and importance to soil carbon pools and in assessing whole-ecosystem response to management and global change. Forest Sci. 57: 67-76
- Huang Y, Zou J, Zheng X, Wang Y, Xu X (2004) Nitrous oxide emissions as influenced by amendment of plant residues with different C:N ratios. Soil Biol. Biochem. 36:973-981. doi:10.1016/jsoilbio.2004.02.009

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Huston MA, Marland G (2003) Carbon management and biodiversity. J. Environ. Manage. 67:77-86. doi:10.1016/S0301-4797(02)00190-1
- Jungers JM, Eckberg JO, Betts K, Mangan ME, Wyse DL, Sheaffer CC (2017) Plant roots and GHG mitigation in native perennial bioenergy cropping systems. Glob. Change. Biol. Bioenergy. 9:326-338. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12321
- Knops JMH, Bradley KL (2009) Soil carbon and nitrogen accumulation and vertical distribution across a 74-year chronosequence. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 73:2096-2104. doi:10.2136/sssaj2009.0058
- Kottek M, Grieser J, Beck C, Rudolf B, Rubel F (2006) World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. Meteorol. Z. 15:259-263. doi:10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- Kumar M, Kundu DK, Ghorai AK, Mitra S, Singh SR (2018) Carbon and nitrogen mineralization kinetics as influence by diversified cropping systems and residue incorporation in Inceptisols of eastern Indo-Gangetic plain. Soil Till. Res. 178:108-117. doi:10.1016/j.still.2017.12.025
- Lal R (2010) Managing soil and ecosystems for mitigating anthropogenic carbon emissions and advancing global food security. Bioscience. 60:708-72. doi:10.1525/bio.2010.60.9.8
- Lal R (2011) Sequestering carbon in soil of agro-ecosystems. Food Policy. 36:S33-S39. doi:10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.12.001
- Lal R. (2004) Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science. 304:1623-1627. doi:10.1126/science.1097396
- Ledda L, Deligios PA, Farci R, Sulas L (2013) Biomass supply for energetic purpose from some Cardueae species grown in Mediterranean farming systems. Ind. Crops. Prod. 47:218-226. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop. 2013.03.013.
- Mauromicale G, Sortino O, Pesce GR, Agnello M, Mauro RP (2014) Suitability of cultivated and wild cardoon as a sustainable bioenergy crop for low input cultivation in low quality Mditerranean soils. Ind. Crops Prod. 57:82-89. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.03.013
- McCormack SA, Ostle N, Bardgett RD, Hopkins DW, Vanbergen AJ (2013) Biochar in bioenergy cropping systems: impacts on soil faunal communities and linked ecosystem processes. Glob. Change. Biol. Bioenergy. 5:81-95 doi:10.1111/gcbb.12046
- Miltner A, Bombach P, Schmidt-Brucken B, Kastner M (2012) SOM genesis: microbial biomass as a significant source. Biogeochemistry. 111:41-55. doi:10.1007/s10533-011-9658-z
- Mishra U, Torn MS, Fingerman K (2013) Miscanthus biomass productivity within US croplands and its potential impact on soil organic carbon. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 5:391-399. doi:10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01201.x

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Monti A, Zatta A (2009) Root distribution and soil moisture retrieval in perennial and annual energy crops in Northern Italy Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 132:252-259. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2009.04.007
- Murty D, Kirschbaum M, McMurtrie RE, McGilvray H (2002) Does conversion of forest to agricultural land change soil carbon and nitrogen? A review of the literature. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 8:105-23. doi:10.1046/j.1354-1013.2001.00459.x
- Payne WA (2010) Are biofuels antithetic to long-term sustainability of soil and water resources?. Adv. Agron. 105:1-46. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(10)05001-7
- Post WM, Kwon KC (2000) Soil carbon sequestration and land-use change: processes and potential. . Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 6:317-327. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.00308.x
- Qin Z, Zhuag Q, Chen M (2012) Impacts of land use change due to biofuel crops on carbon balance, bioenergy production, and agricultural yield, in the conterminous United States. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy. 4:277-288. doi:10.1111/j.1757-1707.2011.01129.x
- Reichstein M, Rey A, Freibauer A, Tenhunen J, Valentini R, Banza J, Casals P, Cheng Y, Grünzweig JM, Irvine J, Joffre R, Law BE, Loustau D, Miglietta F, Oechel W, Ourcival JM, Pereira JS, Peressotti A, Ponti F, Qi Y, Rambal S, Rayment M, Romanya J, Rossi F, Tedeschi V, Tirone G, Xu M, Yakirn D (2003) Modeling temporal and large-scale spatial variability of soil respiration from soil water availability, temperature and vegetation productivity indices. Global. Biogeochem. Cycles. 17:1104. doi:10.1029/2003GB002035
- Robertson PG, Dale VH, Doering OC, Hamburg SP, Melillo GM, Wander MM, Parton WJ, Adler PR, Barney JN, Cruse RM, Duke CS, Fearnside PM, Follet RF, Gibbs HK, Goldemberg J, Mladanoff DJ, Ojima D, Palmer MW, Sharpley A, Wallace L, Weathers KC, Wiens JA, Wilhelm WW (2008) Sustainable Biofuels Redux. Science. 322:49-55. doi:10.1126/science.1161525
- SAS Software (1999) Version 9.02. SAS Institute Inc, Cary
- Savage KE, Davidson EA (2001) Interannual variation of soil respiration in two New England forests. Global. Biogeochem. Cycles. 15:337-350. doi:10.1029/1999GB001248
- Six J, Elliott ET, Paustian K (1999) Aggregate and soil organic matter dynamics under conventional and no-tillage systems. Soil. Sci. Soc. Am J. 63:1350-1358. doi:10.2136/sssaj1999.6351350x
- Smith P, Olesen JE (2010) Synergies between the mitigation of, and adaption to, climate change in agriculture. J. Agric. Sci. 148:543-552. doi:10.1017/S0021856910000341
- Soil Survey Staff (2014) Keys to Soil Taxonomy, twelfth edition. United State Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service, Missouri, MO, USA, pp 173-210

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari

- Trail M, Tsimpidi AP, Liu P, Tsigaridis K, Hu Y, Nenes A, Stone B, Russel AG (2013) Potential impact of land use change on future regional climate in the Southeastern U.S.: reforestation and crop land conversion. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 118:11577-11588. doi:10.1002/2013JD020356
- Tsuji GY, Hoogenboom G, Thornton PK (1998) Understanding options of agricultural production. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers and International Consortium for Agricultural Systems Application.
- Ussiri DAN, Lal R (2009) Long-term tillage effects on soil carbon storage and carbon dioxide emissions in continuous corn cropping system from an alfisol in Ohio. Soil Till. Res. 104:39-47. doi:10.1016/j.still.2008.11.008
- Wang H, Boutton TW, Xu W, Hu G, Jiang P, Bai E (2015) Quality of fresh organic matter affects priming of soil organic matter and substrate utilization patterns of microbes. Sci. Rep. 5:10102. doi:10.1038/srep10102.
- Wang WJ, Dalal RC (2006) Carbon inventory for cereal cropping systems under contrasting tillage, nitrogen fertilization and stubble management practices. Soil Till Res. 91:68-74. doi:10.1016/j.still.2005.11.005
- West PC, Gibbs HK, Monfreda C, Wagner J, Barford CC, Carpenter SR, Foley JA (2010) Trading carbon for food: global comparison of carbon stocks vs. crop yields on agricultural land. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107:19645-19648. doi:10.1073/pnas.1011078107

Maria Teresa Tiloca – Soil carbon dynamics and Land Use Change assessment in a no-food Mediterranean cropping system – Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze Agrarie – *Curriculum "Produttività delle piante coltivate* " – Ciclo XXX Università degli Studi di Sassari